No. 73016-9-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

Lorina Delfierro,

Appellant,

v.

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The specific decisions for which review is sought are as follows:

- Did the trial court incorrectly find that the Promissory
 Note that Ms. Delfierro had executed in 2007 was
 successfully conveyed to Mariners 4 in 2009?
- 2. Did the trial court err in finding that Mariners 5 then conveyed the Note to Pensco Trust Company Custodian IRA FBO Jeffrey D Hermann Account #20005343 in 2011?
- 3. Did the trial court err in accepting the Lost Note analysis presented by Defendants?
- 4. Was the trial court's final order, dated December 18, 2014 dismissing all of Ms. Delfierro's claims incorrect?
- 5. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.7 that Mariners 4 purchased the beneficial interest in Ms.Delfierro's Note?
- 6. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No. 8 that Mariners 4 actually purchased the beneficial interest in Ms. Delfierro's Note and that there was no evidence of impropriety? See Appendix, No. 8.

- Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.
 9 that Mariners 4 purchased the beneficial interest in Ms.
 Delfierro's Note? See Appendix, No. 9.
- 8. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.14 that Mariners 4 transferred the beneficial interest inDelfierro's Note to Mariners 5? See Appendix No. 14.
- Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.
 16 that Mariners 4 transferred the original Delfierro' Note
 to Mariners 5? See Appendix, No. 16.
- 10. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.18 that Mariners transferred the original Delfierro' Noteto Robinson Tait, P.S. in 2011? See Appendix, No. 18.
- 11. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.19 that Robinson Tait, P.S. received and maintained the original Delfierro' Note. See Appendix, No. 19.
- 12. Did the trial court improperly find in Findings of Fact
 Nos. 25-30 that Mariners and/or Robinson Tate P.S.ever
 had possession of the original note, when the testimony
 conceded that even the color copies of the Note were
 defective? See Appendix, Nos. 25-30.

- 13. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.21 that "No Mariners employee has ever met or spoken with Mr. Hermann." See Appendix, No. 21.
- 14. Did the trial court improperly find in Finding of Fact No.23 that transfer to PENSCO was an arms-length good faith transaction? See Appendix, No. 23.
- 15. Did the trial court improperly find in Conclusion of LawNo. 3 that the causes of action brought against defendantswere without factual support and were not meritorious.See Appendix, No. 3.
- 16. Did the trial court improperly find in Conclusion of LawNo. 4 that Pensco was the beneficial owner of the subjectNote? See Appendix, No. 4.
- 17. Did the trial court improperly find in Conclusion of Law No. 5 that Pensco had met the requirements of 62A.3-310 and that it proved that it is entitled to enforce the Note.

 See Appendix, No. 5.
- 18. Did the trial court improperly dismiss would be servicer
 Del Toro?

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- Did the trial court incorrectly admit into evidence two key Purchase and Sale documents¹ because insufficient foundation was laid at trial and because these documents were intrinsically defective? AOE 1,2.²
- 2. Did the trial court incorrectly admit into evidence these two key Purchase and Sale documents because these documents were never disclosed during the discovery process (though requested)? AOE 1, 2.
- 3. Did the trial court incorrectly admit into evidence-after testimony was complete and the parties had rested-two key Purchase and Sale documents? AOE 1, 2.
- 4. Did the trial court incorrectly conclude that an allonge relied on by Mariners 4 was effective in conveying Ms. Delfierro's note to Mariners 4? AOE 1.
- 5. Did the trial court incorrectly conclude that Mr. Hermann was a good faith buyer of the Delfierro Note for Pensco and therefore became a holder of the Note? AOE 1, 2.

¹The "Residential Mortgage Loan Sale Agreement" and the "Master Asset Sale and Interim Servicing Agreement."

² Assignment of Error.

- 6. Did the trial court mistakenly dismiss servicer, Del Toro Loan Servicing Inc., on summary judgment? AOE 18.
- Did the trial court incorrectly apply the Lost Note analysis described in RCW 62A.3-309? AOE 3, 10, 11, 12, 17.
- 8. Did the trial court improperly analyze and present the Findings of Fact/Conclusions of Law?

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Procedural Facts³

A number of parties associated with Delfierro's loan appear to have played a role in attempting to take her home from her. CP 1-102.

Second Mariners Investment Fund II, REO, LLC ("Mariners 4")

⁴ – argued that it became the holder of Ms. Delfierro's note in 2009 and therefore that it had rights in the Note. It wasn't until 2011, as she

³ The facts and issues presented herein are outlined in the parties' testimony (RP 1-7), a number of the individual findings of fact and conclusions of law issued by the court (CP 750-760) and the first and second amended complaint (CP 1-102, 291-357.)

⁴ The various Mariners organizations-all of which are operated by Mr. Steve Olson-are identified in the complaints in this matter as follows:

Mariners 1- Second Mariners Fund II, REO, LLC (It turned out that Mariners 1 was not an actual entity.)

Mariners 2- Mariners Investment Fund II, LLC

Mariners 3- Second Mariners Residential II, REO

Mariners 4- Second Mariners Investment Fund II, REO, LLC

Mariners 5- Mariners Investment Fund, LLC

Mariners 6- Mariners Strategic Fund, LLC

became more educated that she learned that Mariners 4 had no such rights. 2RP 134-137⁵. Ms. Delfierro filed the first comprehensive complaint in this matter in mid-2012.

The first amended complaint included claims against Equifirst, the original lender/broker, Mortgage Electronic Registration System, Inc. ("MERS"), trustees, servicers, notaries, sureties, the various "Mariners" organizations⁶, Pensco Trust Company Custodian IRA Account Number 20005343 FBO Jeffery D. Hermann (hereinafter "Pensco,") ("the self directed IRA") and Jeffrey D. Hermann, (because he was "the Beneficiary" of the above-referenced IRA.) CP 1-102. 3RP 127,134,143. 4RP 31. Ex 41.

The principal defendants were Mr. Olson, Mr. Hermann and his IRA. In particular, there was Mariners 4 and Mariners 5. Last

⁵ Referenced transcripts are indexed as follows:

¹RP- September 19, 2014, Summary Judgment Hearing

²RP- October 28, 2014, Trial day 1

³RP- October 29, 2014, Trial day 2

⁴RP-October 30, 2014, Trial day 3

⁵RP- November 3, 2014, Trial day 4

⁶RP- November 4, 2014, Trial day 5

⁷RP- December 8, 2014

⁶ Mariners 1 alleged that it had purchased the Delfierro Note and Deed of Trust in April 2009 – shortly before the May 15, 2009 foreclosure. Ms. Delfierro did not know about any such efforts to purchase the note until she reviewed Mariners' proof of claim more than one year later – in June, 2010.

Hermann's self-directed IRA which is currently said to own the Note. 3RP 127, 134, 143. 4RP 31. Ex 3, 41, 116, 301.

Shortly after the first amended complaint was filed, motions were brought and a number of claims being dismissed. After discovery had taken place, a second amended complaint was filed. CP 291-351. Settlement occurred in August, 2014 with some parties. 1RP 2-3. Many claims remained and trial began on October 28, 2014.

Delfierro was principally pursuing Quiet Title and Consumer Protection Act claims against various defendants. Her principle argument: neither Mariners nor Pensco ever had any rights in her Note and Mariners and Hermann intentionally engaged in a concerted series of deceptions to ultimately take her home. CP 291-351.

The trial court accepted Mariners 4's and Hermann's arguments regarding conveyance of the Note.

The court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law which Ms. Delfierro argues are faulty. CP 750-760. 6RP 74-85. 7RP 7-30.

Ms. Delfierro is also appealing the court's dismissing a loan servicer by the name of Del Toro Loan Servicing on Summary

Judgment that has retained funds that belong to Ms. Delfierro.

Thus far, Ms. Delfierro has retained her home. 1RP 15-17.

B. Substantive Facts

1. Events of 2006-2008

In 2006, Appellant Lorina Delfierro purchased the subject real property. Delfierro refinanced the property in 2007. 2RP 39-50.

The refinancing lender was Equifirst Financial Corporation

("Equifirst.") MERS was the "nominee beneficiary" and, of course, Ms.

Delfierro was the borrower or grantor. 2RP 74-76. Ex 103.

In 2008, Ms. Delfierro's ability to pay the \$5,000.00 plus per month mortgage payment was compromised. 2RP 77-79.

Delfierro approached her servicer, HomEq⁷ about a payment arrangement. That resulted in an increase of payment. 2RP 77-80.

HomEq transferred Ms. Delfierro's account to Specialized Loan Servicing ("SLS.") SLS was unwilling to work with the loan modifier.

In the fall of 2008, Delfierro had to cease payments. 8 2RP 80-83.

Although unknown to Delfierro then – it is now known that in August, 2007, Equifirst sold the loan to Sutton Funding, LLC. We also know that later in 2008 Equifirst and Sutton sold a package of loans,

⁷ HomEq was Ms. Delfierro's first loan servicer. (2RP 76-77.)

⁸ Ms. Delfierro argues that she was current until the September, 2008 at which time she exercised an option – offered by HomEq – to miss her September payment. Things deteriorated after she missed the September, 2008 payment. (2RP 79.)

including the Delfierro loan – to a third party: FCDB FF1, LLC. 3RP 49-59.

2. Events of 2009

In contravention of the Washington Deeds of Trust Act (RCW 61.24) in 2009, MERS recorded an Appointment of Successor Trustee (AST #1) where it purported to make Fidelity National Title Insurance Company ("Fidelity") the new trustee.⁹ 2RP 84-85. Ex 105.

Fidelity then recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale ("NOTS #1") notifying Ms. Delfierro that foreclosure was set for May 15, 2009. 2RP 85-86. Ex 106. MERS was identified as the foreclosing beneficiary.

On the day prior to the sale, Delfierro spoke with Fidelity, who assured her that her foreclosure would not be going forward. 2RP 87-88.

Despite the assurances offered by the trustee, the foreclosure actually occurred on May 15, 2009. 2RP 88. Ex 107.

A Trustee's Deed was issued in favor of MERS (given that it held the indebtedness secured by the Deed of Trust) and Mariners 1

⁹ This appointment violated RCW 61.24.005(2) (and the recent holding in the Bain decision) which mandates that only the holder of the note – not MERS – is authorized to appoint a successor trustee. *Bain v. Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc. et. al.*, 175 Wn.2d 83 (2012.)

("Second Mariners Fund II REO, LLC.") as the new "owner" of the subject property. ¹⁰ Ex 107,120. 2RP 92-93. 5RP 14-17.

Mariners 1 filed an unlawful detainer action. 2RP 88-89. Ex 122.

Judge McDermott heard the case and found for Ms. Delfierro.

The Judge ordered the foreclosure unwound and that the lien be restored to its' original lien position. 2RP 88-89, Ex 108, 109. 2RP 94-101.

3. Events of 2010

In early 2010 – the Mariners again tried to take Ms. Delfierro's home. 2RP 123-124. 3RP 12-13.

Ms. Delfierro filed for Bankruptcy during April, 2010 and was now seeing new names in the foreclosure papers – Mariners 3 and an entirely new party – American Default Management. ("ADM") 2RP 123-124, 5RP 20, Ex 5, 13.

A previously unknown organization – Mariners 4 – was now asserting that it had been assigned the Note and it filed a "proof of claim" with the Bankruptcy Court in June, 2010. Mariners 4 stated that it had purchased the Delfierro loan over a year earlier -in April, 2009. CP 479-216. 615-642, Interrogatory No. 11. Ex. 116. 5RP 18, 28, 33-35.

¹⁰ Mr. Olson later testified that this Trustee's Deed along with some other documents prepared by Mariners contained mistakes. 5RP 13.

Mariners 4's Proof of Claim implied that Mariners 4 had indeed acquired the beneficial interest in the Delfierro Note from Equifirst in April 2009. CP 615-42, 44, Interrogatory No. 11, Ex 115, 116.

As noted, all of the actions taken by the Mariners organizations in 2009 were taken in the name of Mariners 1. Ex 107, 108, 109, 122.

Ms. Delfierro learned that the entity known as Mariners 1 had never existed in California, Washington or anywhere else. 11 CP 615-642, Interrogatory No. 6. CP 615-642, Interrogatory No. 9B. 5RP 13,16-18,20-25, 33, 55-56, 88.

4. Mariners 4 and Beneficial Interest in Delfierro Note

What did Mariners 4 gave up to obtain Delfierro's Note?

Ms. Delfierro does not know.

No information was provided by Mariners in their pleadings, discovery responses and/or their testimony. CP 615-44 Interrogatory No. 11. 1RP 85. 5RP 30-31, 85-89. 12

¹¹ Mariners argue that they inadvertently left out the word "Investment" out of Mariners 1's name and thus were mistakenly using the Mariners 1 tag rather than Mariners 4 tag throughout 2009: Mariners 1 - Second Mariners Fund II, REO, LLC. Mariners 4 - Second Mariners Investment Fund II, REO, LLC.

¹² No e-mail communications relating to negotiations to buy/sell the Note, no copies of checks or wiring instructions or anything that was financial in nature, no descriptions of negotiations; nothing except an allonge and a hopelessly incomplete sale agreement which was not disclosed until 2014 (to be discussed herein.) 1RP 85. CP 455, 491, 775. Ex 35.

5. Proof of Claim

In April of 2010, Ms. Delfierro still had no idea that Mariners 4 claimed to have purchased the note in 2009. 13 2RP 104-108, 3RP 12-13

In 2010, Ms. Delfierro did not doubt what she had seen in her bankruptcy file – that Mariners 4 was asserting that it now owned the beneficial interest in her Note. Given the Mariners' proof of claim-filed on June 6, 2010, Ms. Delfierro – accepted that Mariners 4 had acquired rights in her Promissory Note¹⁴. 2RP 104-108. CP 479-516. Ex 116.

Specifically, Mariners 4's proof of claim consisted of the following documents:

- · Mariners 4 Proof of Claim, bankruptcy claim form B-10;
- Altered copies of the Delfierro Promissory Note and Deed of Trust in favor of Equifirst (altered because certain information had been removed from the documents by the Mariners¹⁵);
- An allonge or "Note Endorsement" originally purported to have been executed by an Equifirst employee, Russ Ward. Previous to indicating as much in the Proof of Claim filing, the existence of this allonge had never been disclosed to Ms. Delfierro.¹⁶

¹³ In their discovery responses, the Mariners 4 stated that it had purchased the Note in mid-April, 2009 from Equifirst. CP 491, Interrogatory No. 16.

¹⁴ Why? Because Mariners 4 had indicated as much in its proof of claim. In 2010, Ms. Delfierro did not yet understand many of the technical aspects of the process; as a result, at that time she accepted what Mariners said at face value.

¹⁵ As was noted above, the loan documents had been altered by Mariners 4-apparently undeterred by the Federal Court mandate that filing a false claim could cost up to \$500,000.00 and/or can lead to 5 years imprisonment.

¹⁶ A review of the proof of claim documents reveals that this allonge was not physically attached or affixed to the note in a permanent way (as is expressly required

- Assignment of Deed of Trust (purporting to transfer the holder's interest in the Promissory Note and Deed of Trust to Mariners 4;)
- Declaration of Mr. Olson (filed with Mariners motion for relief from stay at the time of filing of the Proof of Claim.) Ex. 116.

The Master Asset Sale and Interim Servicing Agreement – was not included with Mariners 4's 2010 bankruptcy proof of claim filing. CP 407-411, 413-459, 479-516. Ex 3, 116.

The documents filed with Mariners 4's Proof of Claim did not prove that Mariners 4 owned the Note. CP 482-491. Ex 116.

Also filed at approximately the same time, Mr. Olson asserted in a declaration as follows:

"Movant is, the holder of, and has possession of the original endorsed note." CP 482-491. Ex 116.

6. Bankruptcy Events

Also in 2011, a number of bankruptcy related events occurred that should be considered here:

i. Cramdown

On April, 2010, Delfierro filed an adversarial action to determine the extent of the Mariners' lien. 2RP 104-108. 3RP 11-12.

under the Washington version of the Uniform Commercial Code.) Another problem: the allonge is undated and doesn't make any reference to Ms. Delfierro's loan.

The court issued a cramdown order reducing Ms. Delfierro's secured debt from \$572,281.63 to \$325,000.00. 2RP 133-142.

Mariners later appealed this decision and lost.

ii. Stipulation and Ms. Delfierro's Self Education

On October 18, 2010, a stipulation was entered into by Ms.

Delfierro and Mariners 4. Delfierro agreed to pay into the Bankruptcy

Court because she still had no reason to doubt that Mariners 4 held her

Note. 2RP 131-133. Ex. 147.

The parties agreed that Mariners 4 would receive \$2,780.68 per month including \$2,174.25 for principal and interest and \$606.43 would be applied for property taxes and to keep insurance current on the home. 2RP 131-133. Ex 147.

Ms. Delfierro dutifully made these payments including a large back payment of approximately \$16,000 to cover her pre-stipulation obligation. 2RP 131-133. Ex 147.

Unfortunately, Ms. Delfierro later learned that defendants had failed to pay some of the property taxes and all of the insurance. Ms. Delfierro was forced to pay a second time to keep insurance on her house. 2RP 133-142. Ex 147.

When she learned of this, Delfierro became extremely frustrated and studied all aspects of this case. She retain an expert to help her understand the case. CP 615-642 Interrogatory No. 6. 2RP 136-137.

By mid-2012, Ms. Delfierro concluded that Mariners 4 was not the legitimate holder of her Note and instead a series of mistruths had been perpetuated to her detriment. 2RP 135-142.

She chose to remove the case from Bankruptcy where she brought an action for damages, i.e. the current action. 2RP 138-139. Ex 164.¹⁷

7. Mariners Sell Note to Pensco

In 2011, Mariners still, purporting to have purchased the Note in 2009, attempted to sell the Note to Mr. Jeffrey Hermann's IRA. CP 750-760. There were a number of problems.

Mariners 4 said that it transferred the Note to Mariners 5. 2RP 66-67, 5RP 77-78, 7RP 14-17. The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law incorrectly state as follows re: the transfer to Mr. Hermann's IRA:

On May 23, 2011, Mariners Investment Fund, LLC, the beneficiary of Ms. Delfierro's loan at the time and the holder and owner of the original Note, which was endorsed in blank, sold the beneficial interest in Ms. Delfierro's loan to Pensco Trust Company

¹⁷ This was done at the cost of the "cramdown" advantage that she had obtained.

Custodian FBO Jeffery D. Hermann, IRA Account Number 20005343 ("PENSCO") for value in an arms-length transaction via a neutral third-party broker and facilitator, LoanMarket.net.

This sale from Mariners Investment Fund, LLC to PENSCO was the only transaction between any Mariners Entity and Jeff Hermann or PENSCO acting as his IRA custodian. No Mariners employee has ever met or spoken with Mr. Hermann.

The system that LoanMarket.net has established for the sale of mortgage loans is specifically designed to prevent sellers and buyers from identifying each other to insure LoanMarket.net makes a commission on the sales. The buyer and seller only learn the identity of the other party when a purchase and sale agreement is distributed for signature.

The sale from Mariners Investment Fund, LLC to PENSCO was a good faith, arms-length transaction in which PENSCO paid value for the beneficial interest in the Note and Deed of Trust. There was no evidence presented of any impropriety or collusion in any aspect of this sale. There is no factual or legal basis to question the bona fides, much less unwind this transaction. Mariners Investment Fund, LLC was not unjustly enriched in this transaction. This transaction was not an illusory sale.

CP 750-760.

8. Lost Note/Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law Issues

Just before trial, Defendants learned that the subject Note was lost. Over Ms. Delfierro's objections, the court allowed testimony on the lost note issue. ¹⁸ CP 690-734, 750-760.

Mariners submitted affidavits which weren't admitted.

Additionally, Mariners/Pensco offered a number of previously undisclosed witnesses to address the lost note issue. The following are some core facts relating to the lost note issue:

- Mariners/Hermann counsel allege that they obtained the original Note in 2011 for possible use at the cramdown hearing.
- Defendant assigned the Note to the Pensco IRA in 2011 while bankruptcy proceedings were ongoing.
- Counsel sent the note back to Mariners in 2012 (oddly, this was done even though Pensco IRA owned the Note at the time.)
- The Note was then lost while in possession of the Mariners.
- · Counsel discovered in 2014 that the Note was lost-the Note that-at the time-belonged to Hermann's IRA.

17

¹⁸ The Lost Note materials and the witnesses were introduced well after discovery cutoff and the cutoff mandated by the scheduling order in this case.

As is discussed herein, the IRA can't make use of RCW 62A.3-309 because – even though it may have owned the Note – it did not have the Note in its possession at the time it was lost.

Also as noted, this transaction wasn't conducted in good faith and Mariners did not hold the subject Note and had nothing to convey.

9. Del Toro Servicing Issues

Del Toro acted as servicer for Hermann and was sued on an Unjust Enrichment theory. 1R 15-17, 73-74, 90. 2R 31-38, 50-52, 33, 138-144. 3R 5-6, 38, 145-146. 4R 13-15, 64-65, 114-115.

Del Toro, although never listed as servicer, took money from BSI, the previous servicer and it took money from the court and kept some funds. This money should be returned to Ms. Delfierro.

A demand has been made, however, Del Toro refuses to return the funds. Del Toro was sued as part of this action and was dismissed on Summary Judgment. Ms. Delfierro is appealing this dismissal and asks the court to review the court's dismissal.

IV. ARGUMENT

Did Mariners 4 ever established that it had obtained rights in the Promissory Note? No. CP 479-516. Ex 116.

The allonge was defective and thus, Mariners 4's never became holder of the Note.

Thus, Pensco cannot own the Note and it was a mistake to conclude otherwise.

Issues Related to 2009 A.

Recall that in 2009, it was Mariners 1 that took a series of actions to foreclose on the subject home. 19 Ex 106, 107,109,120, 122.

Close study of the events in 2009 warranted because these events establish Mariner's all too frequent errors and its' brazen attitude; Also its' constantly acting outside of the rules to get the property.²⁰

Mariners were ultimately rebuffed by Judge McDermott. Ex 109. Indeed, Mr. Olson later conceded that there was no Mariners 1. Ex 297, Answer to Interrogatory No. 6.

B. No Transfer via Allonge

In its' proof of claim, Mariners 4 asserted that it owned the Note, Deed of Trust via the allonge. Ex 116, 301. 1RP 69-70.

¹⁹ Mariners 1 was not a legally, cognizable entity and therefore this was not

appropriate. ²⁰ During 2009, Mariners 1 actually filed a lawsuit, obtained and recorded a Trustee's Deed and submitted an excise tax affidavit to the Department of Revenue – admittedly all in the name of a non-existent entity known as Mariners 1, 5RP 13, 16-18, 20-25, 55-56, 88.

Indeed, Delfierro did not even know until June, 2010 – when she reviewed the bankruptcy file – that Mariners 4 was relying on an allonge which had been used to support the original transfer from Equifirst to Sutton.²¹) CP 491. 1RP 69-70. 2RP 41-43, 107, 125. 3RP 12-13, 25.

Mr. Steve Olson laid virtually no foundation for this document.

The allonge is not permanently affixed to the Note and it is not dated. We question whether it is legitimate, what it is and what it does. CP 459, 491. Ex 35.

Unaffixed allonges have been dealt with previously.

In *Adams v. Madison Realty & Dev., Inc.*, 853 F.2d 163 (3rd Cir. 1988) the court held that the purchaser of a series of promissory notes containing endorsements on separate sheets of paper was not entitled to holder in due course status because the endorsements failed to meet the Uniform Commercial Code's fixation requirement. *Id.* at 164, 168-69. There the court relied on the wording of the UCC. The court relied on UCC section 3-202(2)²² and held as follows:

²¹ There was no such witness present at trial that could rigorously establish foundation by explaining the purpose of the allonge and how it came to be.) CP 407-411,455-459, 479-516. Ex 301, Ex.116. 1RP 69-70, 5RP 40-41.

²² The analgous Washington statute is RCW 62A.3-204 and it provides in part as follows: "For the purpose of determining whether a signature is made on an instrument, a paper affixed to the instrument is a part of the instrument."

"An endorsement must be written by or on behalf of the holder and on the instrument or on a paper so firmly affixed thereto as to become apart thereof." Id at 165. Since the endorsement page, indicating that the defendant was the holder of the Note, was not attached to the Note, the court found that the note had not been properly negotiated. *Id.* at 166-67. Thus, ownership of the Note was never transferred to the defendant. Applying that principle to the facts here, GMAC did not become a holder of the Note due to the improperly affixed special endorsement.

That court also held as follows:

"the Code's requirement that an endorsement be "firmly affixed" to its instrument is a settled feature of commercial law, adopted verbatim by every American state. . . . Id. at 167.

For the endorsement to be considered to be part of the Note, the rule is, the allonge must be a "paper affixed to the instrument." A.R.S. § 47-3204; see also *In re Nash*, 49 B.R. 254 (Bankr.D.Ariz. 1985).

Here, the evidence clearly demonstrates that the endorsement was not firmly affixed to the Note. See the Note and Allonge where it is evident that there are no clip marks, folds or glue marks which are necessary to meet the "firmly affixed" requirement. The endorsement is on a separate sheet of paper. CP 455-459, 482-491. Ex 35.

The most recent articulation on the issue of endorsements is found in *In re Barry Weisband*, 427 B.R. 13 (Bkrtcy.D.Ariz. 2010)

where the creditor GMAC was attempting to establish that it had standing to pursue debtor Weisband. That court found as follows:

Under Arizona law a holder is defined as "the person in possession of a negotiable instrument that is payable either to bearer or to an identified person that is the person in possession." A.R.S. § 47-1201(B)(21)(a).

Id. at 18.

Consider the following holding in that case:

GMAC has failed to demonstrate that it is the holder of the Note because, while it was in possession of the Note at the evidentiary hearing, it failed to demonstrate that the Note is properly payable to GMAC. A special endorsement to GMAC was admitted into evidence with the Note. However, for the endorsement to constitute part of the Note, it must be on "a paper affixed to the instrument." A.R.S. § 47-3204; see also In Re Nash, 49 B.R. 254, 261 (Bankr.D.Ariz. 1985). Here, the evidence did not demonstrate that the endorsement was affixed to the Note. The endorsement is on a separate sheet of paper; there was no evidence that it was stapled or other attached to the rest of the Note.

Weisband quotes Nash as follows:

There is simply no indication that the allonge was appropriately affixed to the Note, in contradiction with the mandates of A.R.S. § 47-3204. Thus, there is no basis in this case to depart from the general rule that an endorsement on an allonge must be affixed to the instrument to be valid.

Emphasis added.

The Nash court held that GMAC could not overcome the problems with the unaffixed endorsement by its physical possession of the Note because the Note was not endorsed in blank and, even if it was, the problem of the unaffixed endorsement would remain. GMAC had to show that endorsement was proper to be a holder.

There is nothing here that demonstrates this so-called allonge was firmly affixed to the subject Note. CP 455-459, 482-491. Ex 35.

The Mariners was not a holder as defined in the UCC.

The witness presented by Mariners to testify on this issue was Olson, who simply put did not – or could not – provide any foundation regarding the allonge. CP 482-491, 455-459. Ex 35. 5RP 40-41.

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