NO. 73016-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

Lorina Delfierro,

Appellant,

VS.

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

III. ARGUMENT

Like much of Appellant's pleadings, her opening brief is a rambling, confusing, scattergun collection of baseless allegations and half-truths. Although she was given every opportunity to present evidence to support her claims, she failed utterly to do so. Respondents were able to show a clear chain of title and possession of the note and to demonstrate that Pensco has the current right to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust under the lost note doctrine. The trial court's order dismissing the case and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that support that decision should be upheld.

The logic of Appellant's rambling arguments is difficult to follow. The following is an attempt to substantively address Appellant's arguments in as orderly a fashion as possible.

A. The Note

Despite overwhelming evidence presented at trial, Appellant continues to argue that the allonge was not affixed to the Note and that evidence presented under the lost Note doctrine was insufficient. Neither claim has any merit.

Testimony from Maya Swanes (3RP 71-106), Jennifer Tait (3RP 106-125), Steve Olson (5RP 7-98), and Jeffery Hermann (3RP 125-4RP 91) clearly established that the original Note included an allonge in blank affixed to it. This testimony also established the chain of custody of the original Note from Mariners to its attorney, Robinson Tait, P.S., who later held the Note as the attorney for Pensco. The testimony also established that Ms. Tait carefully reviewed the Note, attempted to make a color copy of the Note, and that the original Note was returned to Mariners, where it was lost.

Although Appellant continues to argue that the allonge was not affixed to the Note, she presented no evidence of this during the trial. The only evidence presented at trial was that the allonge in blank was attached as the last page of the Note, a color copy of which was admitted as Exhibit 35.

It is difficult to imagine more complete evidence to establish standing to enforce a lost Note than that presented by Respondents at trial. Unrefuted testimony was presented that Mariners obtained the Note when they purchased Appellant's loan from Fortress. Mariners delivered the original Note to Robinson Tait, P.S. during Appellant's bankruptcy because it was anticipated that the original Note might be needed in hearings before the bankruptcy court. A copy of the emails in which Ms. Swanes requested the original Note be sent were admitted as Exhibit 42. Upon receipt of the original Note, Robinson Tait entered it into their original documents log, excerpts of which were admitted as Exhibit 43. A copy of the bailee letter Ms. Swanes executed after receiving the original Note was admitted as Exhibit 36.

After the loan was sold to Pensco, Robinson Tait, P.S. was retained by Mr. Hermann and Pensco to represent their interests in the bankruptcy proceedings. Robinson Tait, P.S. continued to hold the Note for Pensco. Ms. Tait, the president of Robinson Tait, P.S., examined the Note and made a color copy of it for Mr. Hermann at that time. A copy of Ms. Tait's email to Mr. Hermann describing the original Note was admitted as Exhibit 45. The original Note was returned to Mariners via FedEx and a copy of

the FedEx invoice was admitted as Exhibit 46. Mr. Olson testified that the original Note was received by Mariners but that they cannot locate the original Note. 5RP 83.

Pensco established beyond any doubt that it had the right to enforce the Note under RCW 62A.3-309.

Appellant argues, without support, that Pensco cannot avail itself of RCW 62A.3-309 because it was not in possession of the Note when loss of possession occurred. This is simply incorrect. Despite Appellants baseless assertions to the contrary, Robinson Tait, P.S., held the original Note as the agent for Pensco at the time the Note was lost. Appellant's claims that Pensco was not a defendant in this lawsuit or a party to the bankruptcy proceedings is, like the rest of her claims, completely without factual support.

Appellant also assigns error to the trial court admitting the color copy of the Note (Ex. 35) for lack of foundation. Like the rest of Appellant's arguments, it is completely unsupported by the facts. Not only was the proper foundation laid, but counsel for Appellant affirmatively stated he had no objection to Exhibit 35. 3RP 84 at 7.

B. Purchase and Sale Agreements

Appellant argues that the purchase and sale agreements between Fortress and Mariners (Ex. 3) and then Mariners and Pensco (Ex. 41) should not have been admitted because they were produced after the discovery cutoff. This disingenuous argument was made to the trial court and the judge rejected it and admitted the documents. There is no evidence that this was an abuse of discretion by the trial judge and her ruling should not be overturned on appeal.

Appellant propounded discovery and Respondents provided a large number of documents in response. After the discovery cutoff had passed, Appellant sent a letter requesting more documents.
The documents now being complained of as being provided untimely were provided in response to this letter. 5 RP 67-68, 6
RP 11-14. It disingenuous for Appellant to complain about discovery that was provided after the discovery cut-off when it was not even requested until after that date.

Additionally, it is undisputed that the documents were provided by the time the Motion for Summary Judgment was briefed. This was over a month before the trial date. Appellant made no attempt to continue the trial date due to this alleged late discovery and had ample time to address the documents at trial.

exercises discretion Α trial court broad in imposing discovery sanctions under CR 26(g)or 37(b), and determination will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion. Associated Mortgage Investors v. G.P. Kent Constr. Co., 15 Wash.App. 223, 229, 548 P.2d 558 (1976); Fisons, 122 Wash.2d at 355-56, 858 P.2d 1054; Burnet, 131 Wash.2d at 494, 933 P.2d 1036. An abuse of discretion occurs when a decision is "manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." Associated Mortgage, 15 Wash.App. at 229, 548 P.2d 558. A discretionary decision rests on "untenable grounds" or is based on "untenable reasons" if the trial court relies on unsupported facts or applies the wrong legal standard; the court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable" if "the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take.' "State v. Rohrich, 149 Wash.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) (quoting State v. Lewis, 115 Wash. 2d 294, 298–99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990)). Questions of law are reviewed de novo. In re Firestorm 1991, 129 Wash.2d 130, 135, 916 P.2d 411 (1996); Fisons, 122 Wash.2d at 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (noting that "[a] trial court would necessarily abuse its discretion if it based its ruling on an erroneous view of the law"). *Mayer v. Sto Industries, Inc.*, 156 Wash.2d 677, 684, 132 P.3d 115, 118-119 (2006).

In this case, Appellant did not even seek any sanction for the alleged discovery violations other than the suppression of the documents. The court carefully considered the issues and the facts surrounding the production of the documents and admitted the documents into evidence. The trial court's decision was reasonable and should be upheld on appeal.

Appellant improperly cites to the decision in *Idahosa v. King County*, 113 Wn.App 930, 55 P.3d 657 (2002) to support her argument. The portion of the decision quoted in Appellant's brief addresses the unrelated issue of the trial court's decision to strike Idahosa's response to a summary judgment motion, not any discovery violations.

Appellant also suggests in her Opening Brief that no testimony should have been allowed "as to Fortress, FF1 and SNPWL" as a result of the alleged discovery violation. This suggestion is ridiculous for several reasons. First, Appellant herself elicited testimony about Fortress' purchase of Appellant's loan from their

witness Karen Stacy. 3 RP 49-56. Second, such a sanction should be used in only the most extreme cases of willful violations of discovery orders: 'it is an abuse of discretion to exclude testimony as a sanction [for noncompliance with a discovery order] absent any showing of intentional nondisclosure, willful violation of a court order, or other unconscionable conduct.' "Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Ctr. v. Holman, 107 Wash.2d 693, 706, 732 P.2d 974 (1987) (quoting Smith v. Sturm, Ruger & Co., 39 Wash.App., 740, 750, 695 P.2d 600, 59 A.L.R.4th 89, review denied, 103 Wash.2d 1041 (1985)).

C. Sufficiency of Proof

Appellant's slapdash Opening Brief makes various claims that the evidence at trial was insufficient to establish Pensco's ownership of the Note and right to enforce it. These claims are also without merit.

Respondents had no burden of proof. Appellant had to prove her case by a preponderance of the evidence and she was unable to meet even this low standard.

Respondents were able to establish both the right to enforce the Note and Deed of Trust under RCW 62A.3-309, and a chain of title for these documents. Mariners purchased the loan from Fortress as

part of a package of loans. Mariners then sold this particular loan to Pensco. The trial court properly found that both of these sales were arm's-length transactions for fair value.

D. Del Toro Loan Servicing, Inc.

Appellant also asks the Court to reverse the trial court's order granting Del Toro Loan Servicing, Inc.'s motion for summary judgment. Opening Brief at P. 23. No reason for this request is given and no facts are presented concerning Del Toro Loan Servicing, Inc. The Court should deny this request.

IV. CONCLUSION

Appellant's Opening Brief raises the same unfounded allegations she made in her Amended Complaint. She had her opportunity to try to prove these allegations at trial and failed utterly to do so. The trial was conducted fairly and Appellant does not complain of not being allowed to present any evidence she wanted to support her allegations. The trial merely exposed Appellant's allegations for the imaginary claims they were. Appellant's appeal should be denied in its entirety.